THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

JAN 31 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2008-CP-10-0049  
Appellate Case No. 2016-000185

Mark F. Teseniar and Nan M. Teseniar, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated, and Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Property Owners Association, Inc., (from December 16, 2008 to present), ..... Respondents,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THE JUDGMENT AGAINST MT. HAWLEY'S INSURED VOID UNDER SCRPC 60(b)(4) & (5), WHERE: THE JUDGMENT WAS ENTERED AGAINST NORTH FLORIDA FRAMING AFTER IT WAS ALREADY DISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE; WHERE THE DEFAULT ORDER, DEFAULT JUDGMENT, AND DENIAL OF MT. HAWLEY'S MOTIONS WERE ENTERED WITHOUT JURISDICTION; WHERE RESPONDENTS WERE JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM SEEKING THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT; AND WHERE RESPONDENTS WITHHELD MATERIAL INFORMATION FROM THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY?
  
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING MT. HAWLEY'S MOTION TO INTERVENE, WHERE RESPONDENTS PROCURED A DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST MT. HAWLEY'S INSURED (NORTH FLORIDA FRAMING) TWO YEARS AFTER ENDING THEIR CLAIMS AGAINST THE INSURED WITH PREJUDICE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This controversy arises from a construction lawsuit brought by Mark F. Teseniar, Nan M. Teseniar, and Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Property Owners Association, Inc. (collectively "Respondents") against multiple defendants, including North Florida Framing, Inc. ("North Florida Framing"), regarding alleged construction defects at the Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Plantation project located on John's Island, South Carolina.<sup>1</sup> On June 9, 2009, Respondents filed their Second Amended Complaint, naming North Florida Framing as an additional defendant.<sup>2</sup> North Florida Framing's insurance carriers assumed its defense and hired counsel to represent North Florida Framing in this case; its defense counsel answered the Second Amended Complaint on August 17, 2009.<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Mark and Nan Teseniar originally filed this action on January 4, 2008. Shortly thereafter, Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Property Owners Association, Inc. filed a separate suit on March 28, 2008. The cases were consolidated and certified as a class action matter on October 20, 2008.

<sup>2</sup> Respondents served North Florida Framing with the complaint on June 17, 2009.

<sup>3</sup> North Florida Framing's responsive pleadings have never been withdrawn.

On September 9, 2010, then-Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes in the 9th Circuit Court of Common Pleas, Judge Markley Dennis (“Judge Dennis”), designated this case as complex and assigned exclusive jurisdiction of the case to Judge Roger Young (“Judge Young”). Whether proper or not, as at this time Judge Dennis was still the Chief Administrative Judge, Judge Young then referred solely the date certain trial to begin on May 9, 2011 to Judge Kristi Harrington (“Judge Harrington”).

Prior to trial, Respondents drafted a proposed settlement agreement with North Florida Framing. (The settlement extinguished all of North Florida Framing’s liability and assigned *all of its rights and claims* in the case to Respondents. As a result, neither North Florida Framing nor its counsel appeared for trial on May 9, 2011. However, on the morning of trial, *counsel for Respondents* presented Judge Harrington with a Consent Order Relieving Counsel *for North Florida Framing* (“Consent Order Relieving Counsel”) that left North Florida Framing without counsel to represent it. Respondents, after moving *on behalf of North Florida Framing* to relieve its counsel, stepped back into their adversarial shoes and asked the court to place North Florida Framing in default for not appearing at trial. Although Professional Plastering and Stucco, Inc. (“Professional Plastering”), the only defendant actually proceeding to trial against Respondents, objected to the proposed default, Respondents’ counsel assured the court that North Florida Framing no longer had any interest in the litigation. Thereafter, Judge Harrington granted Respondents’ requests and signed the Consent Order Relieving Counsel.

After a two-day trial in which Respondents obtained a \$7,723,225.00 verdict against Professional Plastering, Respondents filed a motion asking the trial court to preliminarily approve its final settlement with North Florida Framing. The court issued an order preliminarily approving the settlement on June 3, 2011 and entered a final order approving the settlement on

June 10, 2011. The final order directed Respondents to execute general releases or stipulations ending this case and all claims against North Florida Framing with prejudice.<sup>4</sup> Despite the dismissal with prejudice, and three months after representing to the court that Respondents had no interest against North Florida Framing, Respondents presented the court with an Order of Default against North Florida Framing. The order was signed by the court and subsequently filed on August 9, 2011.

Two years later, with no notice to Mt. Hawley, and defective notice as to North Florida Framing, a damages hearing was held on May 14, 2013 in which Respondents' counsel asked the Master in Equity for a \$15,748,225.56 joint and several judgment against North Florida Framing.<sup>5</sup> Respondents failed to disclose material facts to the Master in Equity at that hearing. However, relying on the representations of Respondents' counsel, the Master in Equity issued a \$15,748,225.56 joint and several default judgment against North Florida Framing.

On May 26, 2015, more than two years after procuring the default judgment against North Florida Framing, Respondents filed a judgment creditor suit against Mt. Hawley. Prior to being served with this suit,<sup>6</sup> Mt. Hawley had no notice of a default order, default hearing, or default judgment against North Florida Framing. On July 28, 2015, while final approval of the settlement with Professional Plastering was still pending, and this case quite active, Mt. Hawley moved to intervene and for relief from judgments in this case.

Mt. Hawley argued its motions to intervene and to set aside the judgment as void on January 12, and January 14, 2016. On January 19, 2016, a Form 4 judgment denying Mt.

---

<sup>4</sup> This order still stands and has not been modified in any way.

<sup>5</sup> This \$15,748,225.56 figure represented the total estimated damages attributable to every defendant in this case.

<sup>6</sup> Respondents served the South Carolina Department of Insurance on June 2, 2015, who then mailed process to Mt. Hawley. Respondents filed the acceptance of service on July 2, 2015.

Hawley's motions was filed. Only ten days after its motions were denied, on January 29, 2016, Mt. Hawley appealed the denials to this Court. Before Mt. Hawley's initial brief was due, Respondents filed a motion to dismiss Mt. Hawley's appeal on May 4, 2016, arguing that the case had already ended before Mt. Hawley filed its intervention and SCRCP 60(b)(4) & (5) relief motions—despite the fact that Respondents were still actively seeking final approval of a settlement agreement with Professional Plastering at that time. This Court denied Respondents motion on August 1, 2016, allowing this appeal to proceed.

## **FACTS**

### **I. BACKGROUND AND PARTIES**

Respondents represent the interests of the Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Property Owners Association and the individual homeowners of the units at Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Plantation. Respondents filed this action in 2008 against numerous defendants alleging design and construction defects in the buildings at Fenwick Plantation. (*See* Respondents' Class Action Complaint, R. p. 44). North Florida Framing, named as a defendant in 2009, was a subcontractor for the project who contracted to help frame the buildings. (*See* North Florida Framing's Trial Brief at 4(1), R. p. 98).

At various times alleged in the complaints, North Florida Framing obtained insurance policies from multiple carriers. When Mt. Hawley was tendered this claim, it asserted a reservation of rights setting forth its coverage defenses. Other carriers retained Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms to handle North Florida Framing's defense. North Florida Framing's counsel continued to defend North Florida Framing until it settled out. (*See, e.g.*, North Florida Framing's May 2, 2011 Motion to Bifurcate Trial, R. p. 102; E-mail Settlement, R. p. 107).

### **II. DESIGNATION AS A COMPLEX CASE**

On September 9, 2010, Judge Dennis, then-Chief Judge for Administrative Purposes, “ORDERED that this case be designated as complex and that the trial of the case take place at a time to be determined.” (Complex Case Designation Order, R. p. 92). Furthermore, Judge Dennis “ORDERED that this case be assigned to the Honorable Roger Young to hear and handle all pre-trial motions and other matters pertaining to this case.” (*Id.*). Thereafter, and perhaps without authority to do so as he was not the Chief Administrative Judge, on November 18, 2010, Judge Young signed an order assigning this case to Judge Harrington for one limited purpose— “a date certain trial to begin on Monday, May 9, 2011.” (Trial Assignment Order, R. p. 94). Despite this limited grant of jurisdiction, Respondents made concerted efforts to have Judge Harrington hear every aspect of this case, up to and including Mt. Hawley’s motions to intervene and for relief from judgments. In almost every document presented to the court, Respondents inserted the following provision stating that she retains jurisdiction. (*See e.g.*, Final Order Approving Class Action Partial Settlement, R. p. 214, ¶6(d) (“This Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter until it is concluded.”); Order Preliminarily Approving Class Action Partial Settlement, R. p. 199, ¶6 (same)).

### **III. THE PROPOSED PRE-TRIAL SETTLEMENTS**

On August 5, 2010, North Florida Framing filed a Third Party Complaint against its subcontractor, Nava Guzman Construction, Inc. (“Nava”), asserting several causes of action, including a claim for full indemnity in the case. (North Florida Framing’s Third Party Complaint, R. pp. 84–85). Respondents entered into many pre-trial settlement agreements, leaving only a few parties remaining in the time leading up to the trial, including Nava and North Florida Framing. Although Respondents had asserted no claims against Nava, they eventually entered into a settlement agreement prior to trial with the third party defendant wherein Nava paid

Respondents \$137,500 in exchange for Respondents agreeing to *defend and indemnify Nava from any and all claims made by North Florida Framing against them*. (Jury Trial – Volume 1 Transcript, R. pp. 116-17, lines 25–10); *see also* Joint Stipulation of Dismissal in *Teseniar v. Atlantic Cas. Ins. Co.*, Civil Action No.: 2:11-cv-00860-RMG, (D.S.C. 2011). This fact became important in light of the subsequent settlement proposal with North Florida Framing and Respondents the day of trial.

On May 6, 2011, three days before trial, counsel for North Florida Framing and Respondents drafted a preliminary settlement agreement via e-mail. (*See* E-mail Settlement, R. p. 107). Under “the proposed settlement: [Respondents] ha[d] settled with Crum & Forster and Scottsdale [(two of North Florida Framing’s insurers)] ***on behalf of North Florida Framing***” for \$400,000 and “an assignment of those *rights and claims belonging to [North Florida Framing]* . . . ***against all other parties.***” (*Id.*, ¶3) (emphasis added). In exchange for the assignment of *every right North Florida Framing had in the case*, including, but not limited to the right to enforce its indemnity claim against Nava, Respondents covenanted “not to execute” against North Florida Framing. (*See id.* at ¶2). Respondents further agreed that they “*will satisfy and retire any outstanding judgment(s) . . . and shall file a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice in favor of [North Florida Framing]*” after completing “their collection of funds *from non-settling parties and carriers, to whatever extent they may collect funds.*”<sup>7</sup> (*Id.* at ¶4) (emphasis added). Finally,

---

<sup>7</sup> It is unclear whether this was intended to be read as “non-settling parties and [their] carriers” or “non-settling parties and [non-settling] carriers.” While the former phrase is logically consistent, the latter is an error of law. Respondents did not file any direct claims against insurance companies in this action. Accordingly, if Respondents settle its claims *in this case* they are settled against that party, the liability for those claims is extinguished. It cannot then pursue those *same claims against non-party insurance carriers*. Thus, a non-settling carrier is a misnomer. Respondents consistently muddled this distinction because they were attempting to adjudicate the liability of absent non-parties in hopes of limiting their defenses in any subsequent proceedings.

under the proposed settlement, Respondents “consent[ed] to counsel for [North Florida Framing] . . . withdrawing from the case.” (*Id.* at ¶5). Importantly, there was no mention of notifying Mt. Hawley that Respondents had been assigned all of North Florida Framing’s rights in this case or that Respondents would move to relieve North Florida Framing’s counsel and place them in default to pursue a \$15,748,225.56 joint and several judgment.

#### **IV. THE MORNING OF TRIAL: RELIEVING AN “ADVERSARY’S” COUNSEL AND MOVING FOR ITS DEFAULT**

On the morning of the trial on May 9, 2011, Respondents’ counsel represented to the court that it had “reached a settlement with North Florida Framing.” (Jury Trial – Volume 1 Transcript, R. p. 112, lines 21–22). At this time, *counsel for Respondents, not North Florida Framing nor its absent counsel*, presented to the court the Consent Order *Relieving Counsel for North Florida Framing*, that purportedly allowed North Florida Framing’s counsel to withdraw, (*Id.*), as the liability of North Florida Framing had been extinguished by their settlement. (E-mail Settlement, R. p. 107). Although no motion to relieve counsel had ever been filed by North Florida Framing or Respondents prior to this time, and although neither North Florida Framing nor its counsel was present at the trial, the Consent Order Relieving Counsel stated that “**On motion of North Florida Framing, Inc.** . . . it is hereby ordered that Barnwell Whaley Patterson and Helms, LLC and attorneys Randell C. Stoney, Jr. and Barbara J. Wagner are relieved as counsel for North Florida Framing, Inc.” (Consent Order Relieving Counsel, R. p. 186). The Consent Order Relieving Counsel was *neither signed by North Florida Framing nor its counsel*. Instead, only Respondents’ counsel signed the order and one of Respondents’ attorneys, Justin Lucey, signed for North Florida Framing’s counsel. (*Id.*).

Implicit in these actions is that Respondents were attempting to exercise North Florida Framing’s rights in this case—rights that were purportedly subject to assignment in the proposed

e-mail settlement—by acting on behalf of their former adversary and motioning to relieve its counsel. The trial transcript shows that despite the fact that neither North Florida Framing nor its counsel were present to make the motion, and despite the fact that neither North Florida Framing nor its counsel actually signed the Consent Order Relieving Counsel, Judge Harrington signed the order on the morning of trial. (*Id.*).

Immediately after presenting the Consent Order Relieving Counsel to the court, Respondents' counsel, Attorney Justin Lucey ("Mr. Lucey"), asked the court to place North Florida Framing in default, reasoning that no one showed up to represent its interests, including its counsel which Respondents had just relieved:

MR. LUCEY: With that, ma'am, North Florida Framing is actually still in the case but they have a covenant. They -- it is the call of the case. They're not here. We ask the Court to place them in default. We have one other defendant that's already in default and there's a default hearing set in front of Judge Scarborough in several weeks' time. We would ask that North Florida Framing be referred to that same default hearing for a final resolution.<sup>8</sup>

(Jury Trial – Volume 1 Transcript, R. p. 113, lines 12–20). In response, Professional Plastering, the only co-defendant left in the case, sought to prevent Respondents from placing North Florida Framing in default. Specifically, Professional Plastering's counsel, Attorneys J. J. Anderson ("Mr. Anderson") and Christy Mahon ("Ms. Mahon"),<sup>9</sup> objected on the grounds that Respondents should not be allowed to assert that North Florida Framing was still a part of the

---

<sup>8</sup> Accordingly, it appears that once Respondents exercised North Florida Framing's assigned rights by motioning on its behalf to relieve its counsel, Respondents then stepped back into their own shoes and declined to exercise both North Florida Framing's assigned *right to defend itself* in this case and its assigned *right to pursue its indemnity claim against Nava—a claim against which Respondents had agreed to defend and indemnify Nava*.

<sup>9</sup> The trial transcript incorrectly spelled Ms. Mahon's name as "Christi Mann" or "Ms. Mann."

trial, or to place them in default, because Respondents had already reached a settlement with North Florida Framing:

THE COURT: All right. Does anyone-- I'll be happy to hear -- have any position? Mr. Anderson?

MR. ANDERSON: As I understand it, he's indicating that North Florida Framing is still part of this trial, although they have-- he's trying to place them in default; is that correct? We would --

THE COURT: Mr. Lucey?

MR. ANDERSON: Simply put, we would object to that. Either -- we believe that they -- *if they've got a settlement, they've got a settlement.*

(*Id.*, R. pp. 113, line 21–p. 114, line 6) (emphasis added). Importantly, Professional Plastering also cautioned that Respondents were likely trying to manufacture a joint and several liability verdict against North Florida Framing:

MS. MA[HO]N: Your Honor, I believe -- it comes down to this. The nuts and bolts of it is whether what -- what they're doing is, I assume, would be to *keep them in as name only so that they can have a joint and several liability verdict[.]*<sup>10</sup>

(*Id.*, R. p. 114, lines 16–20) (emphasis added). Respondents' counsel denied this allegation and assured the court that Respondents no longer had any interest against North Florida Framing and that its liability was fully, finally, and completely settled:

MR. LUCEY: We're not seeking to keep them in this trial. We're asking for our default and we're asking that they be referred to the default hearing that's already been scheduled for the other default defendants, which is the developer and the developer entities.

MS. MA[HO]N: Then no objection, Your Honor. *As long as they are not trying to keep them in for a joint and several liability in this case, we have no objection* to that at all.

...

---

<sup>10</sup> Professional Plastering was correct.

MR. LUCEY: In the present context, *North Florida Framing no longer has any interest in this proceeding, nor do we have any interest against them* in this proceeding. And *the two active carriers that were defending have agreed to pay us a substantial sum of money to settle the current liability*[.]<sup>11</sup>

(*Id.*, R. p. 115, lines 13–21, p. 116, lines 7–13) (emphasis added). Notwithstanding the conflicting positions on the record, Judge Harrington granted Respondents’ requests and signed the Consent Order Relieving Counsel (and every other order requested by Respondents, *see* Facts § II *supra*).

## V. PROFESSIONAL PLASTERING’S TRIAL AND JUDGMENT

Having orchestrated North Florida Framing out of the case, Respondents proceeded to trial against the lone remaining defendant, Professional Plastering.<sup>12</sup> In Respondents’ opening statements, Attorney Jeff Leath (“Mr. Leath”) repeatedly represented in court that the only liability remaining as of the date of the trial was that of the stucco applicator, that every other party and their attendant liabilities had been satisfied, and that the settling parties had paid their “fair share”:

[W]hen we started this case it was much, much larger than just having this stucco issue. We had many other issues and many other defendants. They had roofing problems, they had framing problems, windows, and mechanical problems, and happily we’ve been able to resolve those problems with these other defendants. *And that’s why they’re not here right now.*<sup>13</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> Respondents have not argued that there was any “future” liability incurred in this case, nor could there have been any “future” liability. In other words, all of the liability was “current” and therefore all of the liability was settled.

<sup>12</sup> In Professional Plastering’s later appeal, this court also noted that “[w]hile the lawsuit initially involved numerous defendants, all of the defendants, with the exception of Professional, *settled with Respondents. Thus, the trial focused solely on the exterior stucco installed by Professional and the resulting damage. See Teseniar v. Prof’l Plastering & Stucco, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 83, 88, 754 S.E.2d 267, 269 (Ct. App. 2014).

<sup>13</sup> Admissions in an opening statement qualify as judicial admissions, and, in so admitting, a litigant may give up its right to argue inconsistently with its opening statement. *See Christian Legal Soc’y Chapter of the Univ. of Cal. v. Martinez*, 561 U.S. 661, 678 (U.S. 2010) (quoting

You'll hear that we have an overall estimate . . . for the total repairs to this project of about \$15,718,000.

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