THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
The Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

NOV 10 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2008-CP-10-0049
Appellate Case No. 2016-000185

Mark F. Teseniar and Nan M. Teseniar, on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated, and Twelve Oaks at Fenwick Property Owners Association, Inc., (from December 16, 2008 to present),.....Respondents,

v.

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

ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

I. CONTRARY TO MT. HAWLEY'S SUGGESTION, JUDGE HARRINGTON AND THE MASTER IN EQUITY, HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO ENTER THE ORDERS IN QUESTION, AND MT. HAWLEY CANNOT COLLATERALLY ATTACK THE ORDERS COMPLAINED OF IN THIS APPEAL.

Mt. Hawley filed its motion to intervene in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas, which is the court presiding over the entire case. Mt. Hawley cannot sustain an argument that the circuit court where it brought its own motion lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the case and, therefore by extension, its motion. Neither NFF, nor anyone else for that matter, ever questioned the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction, because there was no basis to do so. In fact, NFF stated in its Third-Party Complaint, "The parties, matters, and all things hereinafter alleged **are within the jurisdiction of this Court.**" (NFF Third-Party Complaint) (Emphasis added). NFF was right.

Carefully viewed, the argument made by Mt. Hawley is not that the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction; rather, Mt. Hawley argues that certain **judges**, namely Judges Harrington⁹ and Scarborough, lacked "subject matter jurisdiction" even though the court unquestionably does.¹⁰ Mt. Hawley is wrong.

⁹ At the first hearing, Mt. Hawley conceded, "I don't doubt judge, that you had the authority to try this case." (January 12 Trans., p. 9, ln. 2-3). NFF was not present for the trial of the case. In her role as trial judge, she ordered NFF in default. (January 14, Trans., p. 12, ln. 9 – 13, ln. 9). Having conceded this authority in the hearing on its motion, Mt. Hawley cannot change its position on appeal.

¹⁰ A Master in Equity has the full power and authority of the Circuit Court sitting without a jury, to regulate all proceedings in every hearing before them, and to perform all acts and take all measures necessary or proper for the efficient performance of their duties under the order of reference. Rule 53, SCRPC. By rule this specifically includes default cases. *Id.* This includes the power to rule on all motions, require the production of evidence, and call witnesses and examine them under oath.

Mt. Hawley's ill-fated "subject matter jurisdiction" argument is surely the product of its recognition of the well-settled distinction between an order that is "void" (as in a case where subject matter jurisdiction is lacking) and an order that is merely "voidable" (where subject matter jurisdiction exists, but some other irregularity renders the order subject to being reversed on direct appeal). Because the law does not permit Mt. Hawley to collaterally attack a "voidable" judgment through Rule 60(b)(4), Mt. Hawley insists the Order of Default and Default Judgment are void despite to a wealth of authorities to the contrary.

A. Mt. Hawley confuses the key distinction between an order that is void, as opposed to one that may be voidable.

Without questioning the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction, Mt. Hawley focuses on the jurisdiction of the particular **Judges**—i.e., Harrington and Scarborough—to claim their Orders are void, *ab initio*. But, Mt. Hawley conflates subject matter jurisdiction, which undoubtedly is present, with alleged irregularities not involving subject matter jurisdiction, which do not render a judgment void, but may render it voidable. This fundamental distinction is essential to this Court's review.

"Subject matter jurisdiction refers to the court's power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong." *S.C. DMV v. Holtzclaw*, 382 S.C. 344, 349, 675 S.E.2d 756, 758 (Ct. App. 2009); *see also Watson v. Watson*, 319 S.C. 92, 93, 460 S.E.2d 394, 395 (1995). "The authority to decide a cause at all, and not the decision rendered therein, is what makes up jurisdiction; and when there is jurisdiction of the person and subject matter, **the decision of all other questions arising in the case is but an exercise of that jurisdiction.**" *Piana v. Piana*, 239 S.C. 367, 372, 123 S.E.2d 297, 299 (1961) (quoting from 21 C. J. S., Courts, § 26) (Emphasis added). "There is a **wide**

difference between a want of jurisdiction¹¹ in which case the court has no power to adjudicate at all, and a mistake in the exercise of undoubted jurisdiction in which case the action of the trial court is not void although it may be subject to direct attack on appeal.” *Id.* (quoting *Jackson City Bank & Trust Co. v. Fredrick*, 271 Mich. 538, 260 N.W. 908, 909 (1935) (emphasis added); see also *Petroleum Transportation Inc. v. SCPSC*, 255 S.C. 419, 179 S.E.2d 326, 329 (1976).

It is settled law in this state that irregularities not involving jurisdiction do not render a judgment void. *Thomas & Howard Co. v. T. W. Graham & Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995). “A void judgment is one that, from its inception, is a complete nullity and is without legal effect **and must be distinguished from one which is merely ‘voidable.’**” *Id.* (emphasis added).¹²

“A judgment will not be vacated for a mere **irregularity** which does not affect the justice of the case, and of which the party could have availed himself, but did not do so until judgment was rendered against him.” *Id.* at 291, 475 S.E.2d at 343 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Mt. Hawley explained its view of things at the hearing, “Now, I wasn’t in this case, Judge, but I’ve gone through this record pretty carefully. And so I’m just

¹¹ The South Carolina Supreme Court explained that appellate decisions sometimes use the phrase “lack of jurisdiction” to mean that the trial court simply lacks the power to act in a particular manner because, for example, the term of court has ended. Cases mentioning the term of court rule as being a rule of subject matter jurisdiction, however, are incorrect. See *State v. Campbell*, 376 S.C. 212, 216, 656 S.E.2d 371, 373 (2008) (pointing out that *State v. Davis*, 375 S.C. 12, 649 S.E.2d 178 (Ct. App. 2007); *Town of Hilton Head Island v. Godwin*, 370 S.C. 221, 634 S.E.2d 59 (Ct. App. 2006) and *State v. Rhinehart*, 312 S.C. 36, 430 S.E.2d 536 (Ct. App. 1993), all **incorrectly** used the phrase “subject matter jurisdiction” when discussing other mistakes made in the exercise of the court’s power).

¹² Mt. Hawley quotes only part of this sentence in its Initial Brief at p. 20, failing to include the key distinction given to judgments that are merely voidable.

pointing out things that I think are **irregular.**” (January 12 Trans., p. 9, ln. 7-9) (emphasis added). It chose the right word to use. At best, and without conceding the point, any “irregularities” related to the assignments of the case and various matters to Judges Harrington and Scarborough do not implicate subject matter jurisdiction, but instead these irregularities merely leave the orders voidable, not void. Also, they are not subject to collateral attack by Mt. Hawley, and the appellate decisions of this state so hold.

“When a court acts with proper subject matter jurisdiction, but takes action outside of its authority, **the party against whom the act is done must object and directly appeal.**” *Fryer v. S.C. Law Enf’t Div.*, 369 S.C. 395, 399, 631 S.E.2d 918, 920 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Coon v. Coon*, 356 S.C. 342, 347-48, 588 S.E.2d 624, 627 (Ct. App. 2003), *aff’d as modified*, 364 S.C. 563, 614 S.E.2d 616 (2005) (emphasis added); *see also Cosgrove v. Butler*, 1 S.C. 241, 243 (1869) (“If such departures be not excepted to, the Court may consider objection to them as *waived*. And it may be asserted, as a general rule, that where there is no want of jurisdiction . . . , [the Court’s] **judgment will be binding, even although affected by irregularity which would have defeated the proceeding if objection had been timely and properly made.**”) (italics in original, bold emphasis added). Any irregularities complained of by Mt. Hawley are not involving subject matter jurisdiction, and therefore are waived for want of any objection at the time.

It is undisputed that the sole reason Mt. Hawley sought to intervene was to collaterally attack the judgments against NFF. Its counsel made that clear: “I think, Judge, you should rule that we can intervene **for the sole purpose of contesting the validity of the judgment.**” (January 14, 2016 Hearing Trans., p. 8, lines 22-24) (Mt. Hawley Motion to Intervene). NFF, who is undoubtedly “the party against whom the act is done,” did not

object and did not appeal. Likewise, NFF has never sought to set aside the judgments. The record is devoid of any evidence from Mt. Hawley that NFF disputes the entry of the judgments against it or, that Mt. Hawley attempted to obtain such evidence but was stymied.¹³ Mt. Hawley's collateral attack on the judgments rendered against its insured is wholly improper in light of the foregoing.

It boils down to this: without question the circuit court had subject matter jurisdiction over the type and class of lawsuit Respondents brought against NFF. Even assuming *arguendo*, that Judge Harrington should not have heard and decided the matters related to default, such irregularities would not divest the circuit court of subject matter jurisdiction.¹⁴ At best, it would yield a potentially voidable result subject to direct appeal only by NFF, the party against whom the act was taken, which has not occurred. *Accord Fryer*, 369 S.C. at 399, 631 S.E.2d at 920; *Coon*, 356 S.C. at 347-48, 588 S.E.2d at 627 (noting that, if the court “acts with proper subject matter jurisdiction, but takes action outside of its authority, the party **against whom the act is done** must object and directly appeal”) (emphasis added).

¹³ *Compare Redmond v. Devine*, 152 Ill. App. 3d 68, 72, 504 N.E.2d 138, 141 (1987) (involving a case where the insured hid the existence of the underlying lawsuit from the carrier and would not help when the carrier investigated and sought the insured's assistance). None of those facts exist here.

¹⁴ Mt. Hawley's various arguments at times contradict each other. It first contends Judge Harrington's Partial Settlement Approval Order had the effect of dismissing NFF with prejudice (which it did not). But, Mt. Hawley contends Judge Harrington had no subject matter jurisdiction to decide any matter in the case unrelated to the trial (if even the trial). (January 14, 2016 Hearing Trans., pp. 8, line 24 – 9, line 6). If Mt. Hawley were correct on this point, Judge Harrington's alleged lack of subject matter jurisdiction would, by its own argument, render the Partial Settlement Approval Order “void” and thus NFF could not have been dismissed by it regardless of its interpretation. Mt. Hawley further conceded that if Judge Harrington lacked subject matter jurisdiction, all of the arguments made to her regarding its motion to intervene are moot. (January 14, 2016 Hearing Trans., pp. 6, line 25 – 7, line 10).

B. Respondents gave proper notice of the default hearing before Judge Scarborough and therefore the judgment is not void.

Mt. Hawley's argument that the Master's Default Judgment is void for lack of "service of process" or notice of the default proceeding is misplaced. Service of process is related to the summons and complaint and governed Rule 4, SCRCF, and is not questioned in this case. On the other hand, Rule 5 governs the service of papers subsequent to the service of the summons and complaint, including "written notices." See Rule 5(a)(4), SCRCF. To satisfy Rule 5, service upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy to him or "by mailing it to him at his last known address . . ." *Id.* The service of a written notice under Rule 5 is **complete** upon placing the notice in the mail. *Id.*

Respondents sent **multiple** notices of the default hearing to NFF at its last known addresses and directed to the company's registered agent, David Anderson. A notice sent by certified mail to NFF's last known street address was received and signed for by a Catherine Anderson. A copy sent by regular US mail to that same street address never came back and is presumed delivered. Respondents also sent notices to a post office box known to be associated with NFF. Only the certified mail sent to that post office box was returned unclaimed. These several efforts more than satisfy Rule 5. Judge Scarborough specifically found NFF was served with proper notice of the hearing, and this was correct. (May 14, 2013 Trans., p. 3, ln. 9 – p. 4, ln. 12). *Cf. Sijon v. Green*, 289 S.C. 126, 127, 345 S.E.2d 246, 247 (1986) (holding a judgment must stand in the face of a challenge based on lack of notice of the hearing if it is determined that notice was given).

Consequently, Mt. Hawley has failed to demonstrate the challenged judgments are "void" for want of subject matter jurisdiction or notice. All of its numerous arguments that depend upon the challenged orders being void, rather than voidable, must fail.

II. NORTH FLORIDA FRAMING WAS NEVER DISMISSED FROM THE LAWSUIT.

The Partial Settlement Approval Order entered by Judge Harrington on June 10, 2011, does not dismiss NFF from the action. This is another example of where the record reveals what truly occurred is far different than the picture painted by Mt. Hawley.

A. The Partial Settlement Approval Order is not an order of dismissal, which is why there was a subsequent Order of Dismissal, which leaves NFF in the case.

The sole function of the Partial Settlement Approval Order was for the court to approve the agreements made so that the class and settling parties could move forward with carrying out their respective agreements. Respondents sought approval for partial settlements totaling \$1,287,500, which included the \$400,000 promised by NFF's Participating Carriers. For simplicity, the Settlement Approval Order included a footnote listing the "Settling Defendants," with NFF identified among them. It was necessary to get approval of NFF's agreement in order to move forward with receiving and disbursing the \$400,000 that formed part of the agreement. Rule 23, SCRCF requires as much. But, the terms of the agreement with NFF did not require Respondents to dismiss NFF as a party **until** "completion of [Respondents'] collection of funds from non-settling parties and carriers, to whatever extent they may collect any funds." (May 6 Settlement Email (Covenant not to Execute)).

As set forth in the Statement of Facts and materials in the record, the Partial Settlement Approval Order is **not** an order of dismissal. Naturally, until each "Settling Defendant" performed the terms of its settlement, none would be entitled to dismissal.

Once the **other** Settling Defendants, who had not special stipulations, tendered their respective settlement proceeds, the actual Order of Dismissal as to **Certain** Defendants

was filed on August 8, 2011. This Order of Dismissal follows the Partial Settlement Approval Order and, as authorized, dismissed with prejudice all claims against only the “Certain Defendants” identified therein. NFF is **not** included in the Order of Dismissal and is not dismissed by it. There is no later Order of Dismissal as to NFF. This is because, unlike other settling parties, Respondents are still pursuing recovery for claims associated with NFF, which was the obvious intent from the terms of the May 6 Settlement Email and the Covenant not to Execute.

B. Respondents never said they had no further claims against NFF.

It cannot be earnestly questioned that a material term of the agreement Respondents made with NFF and its Participating Carriers involved preserving Respondents’ claims against NFF under a Covenant not to Execute in order to pursue recovery of available insurance proceeds from its recalcitrant insurer, Mt. Hawley. The payment of \$400,000 by carriers who, unlike Mt. Hawley, actually defended their insured was only a part of the consideration for the settlement.

Regardless of how Mt. Hawley presents it, Respondent’s colloquy with the trial court on this point speaks for itself. Respondents clarified, for Professional Plastering’s sake, their intention to have NFF referred to the Master in Equity for a separate damages hearing rather than keeping NFF as an empty chair defendant in the jury trial against Professional Plastering. It was clear to everyone in the courtroom what was intended, which was reiterated to the circuit court during the motion hearing. (January 14 Trans., p. 19, ln. 16 – 20, ln. 1). Conveniently, the only party who claims confusion about this is Mt. Hawley.

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